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  LAW AND MURDER : MICHELLE THOMPSON AND JEANINE NICARICO




  ON FEBRUARY 3, 1984, a young woman named Michelle Thompson and a male friend, Rene Valentine, were forced at gunpoint from

  the car they’d just entered in a parking lot outside D. Laney’s, a nightclub in Gurnee, Illinois, north of Chicago. The gunman walked Valentine a short distance, then shot him in the

  chest at point-blank range. When the police arrived, Michelle Thompson was gone.




  I was an Assistant United States Attorney in Chicago at the time, and my oldest friend in the federal prosecutor’s office, Jeremy Margolis, helped direct the FBI’s search for

  Thompson. Initially, the case appeared to be an interstate kidnapping, which is a federal matter. Within a few days, the crime proved to be one within the province of state authorities: murder.

  Beaten, raped, and strangled, Thompson’s body was discovered in Wisconsin. Shortly thereafter, Hector Reuben Sanchez, an illiterate but ambitious factory worker and

  burglar, was arrested, along with an accomplice, Warren Peters, Jr., who ultimately agreed to testify against Sanchez.




  Deeply enmeshed in the case by now, Jeremy was appointed a special Assistant State’s Attorney to help the local prosecutors try Sanchez in state court in Lake County, Illinois. As Jeremy

  prepared for trial, I spent hours listening to him describe Michelle Thompson’s miserable final night. After Sanchez raped Thompson on the floor of the family room in his house, she escaped

  and dashed, still handcuffed and naked below the waist, through the snow to the back door of a neighbor’s, where she pleaded for help. Sanchez found her there and later assuaged the neighbor

  by telling him that Thompson was drunk and hysterical. The pathos of the neighbor’s account of the young woman being led away by Sanchez was heartbreaking. Michelle Thompson had been abused

  now for several hours, and she offered no further resistance. She was resigned to being tortured and degraded, and hoped only to live—a meager, abased wish that went unfulfilled. Back in his

  house, Sanchez gagged Michelle Thompson with a strip of cloth, bent her over a washing machine and sodomized her, then strangled her with a nylon strap and a coat hanger. He finished the job by

  beating her head on the basement floor.




  In pursuing the case, the FBI had discovered that nine years earlier Sanchez had murdered his girlfriend, slashing her throat and shooting her, then escaped prosecution by threatening the

  witnesses. This time Jeremy and the Lake County State’s Attorneys were determined that there would be no repetitions. They were seeking the death penalty.




  Through Jeremy, I followed the progress of the case closely. Late in the summer, he and Ray McKoski, then the First Assistant State’s Attorney in Lake County,

  proceeded to trial in Waukegan, Illinois. When Sanchez was convicted and sentenced to death in September 1984, I relished their victory.




  That sideline experience remained my only direct exposure to capital prosecutions until 1991, when I was asked to take on the pro bono appeal of Alejandro Hernandez. By then I was in

  private practice as a partner in the Chicago office of Sonnenschein Nath and Rosenthal, a large national firm. I’d known of Hernandez for nearly a decade by now as a co-defendant in what the

  press commonly referred to as “The Case That Broke Chicago’s Heart.” On February 25, 1983, Patricia Nicarico, who worked as a school secretary in Naperville, a suburb outside

  Chicago, had returned home to discover that her front door had been kicked in and that her ten-year-old daughter, Jeanine, was missing. Two days later, the girl’s body, blindfolded and

  otherwise clad only in a nightshirt, was found in a nearby nature preserve. She had died as the result of repeated blows to the head, administered only after she had been sexually assaulted in a

  number of ways. More than forty law enforcement officers joined a multi-jurisdictional task force organized to hunt down the killer, for whose capture a $10,000 reward was offered.




  By early 1984, the case had still not been solved, and a heated primary campaign was under way for the job of State’s Attorney in DuPage County. A few days before the primary, on March 6,

  1984, Alex Hernandez, Rolando Cruz, and Stephen Buckley were indicted, even though six weeks earlier the State’s Attorney had said that there was insufficient evidence to indict anyone.




  James Ryan won the election and became the new DuPage County State’s Attorney. (Ryan was elected Attorney General of Illinois in 1994 and served until early 2003,

  after losing in the November 2002 election, when he was the Republican candidate for Governor.) Ryan’s new office took the case against the three defendants to trial in January 1985. The jury

  deadlocked on Buckley, but Hernandez and Cruz were both convicted and sentenced to death. There was no physical evidence against either of them—no blood, semen, fingerprints, hair, fiber, or

  other forensic proof. The state’s case consisted solely of each man’s statements, a contradictory maze of mutual accusations and demonstrable falsehoods as testified to by various

  informants and police officers. By the time the case reached me, seven years after Hernandez and Cruz were first arrested, the Illinois Supreme Court, in 1988, had reversed the original convictions

  and ordered separate retrials. Cruz was convicted and sentenced to death again in April 1990. The jury hung in Hernandez’s second trial, but the state put him on trial for his life a third

  time in May 1991. He was found guilty but sentenced to eighty years, rather than to execution.




  When Hernandez’s trial lawyers, Mike Metnick, Jeff Urdangen, and Jane Raley, approached me, they made a straightforward pitch. Their client was innocent. I didn’t believe it. I knew

  how the system worked. Convict an innocent man once? Not likely, but possible. Twice? Never. And even if it were true, I couldn’t envision convincing an appeals court to overturn the

  conviction a second time. Illinois elects its state court judges, and this was a celebrated child murder.




  The lawyers begged me to read the brief that Larry Marshall, a renowned professor of criminal law at Northwestern University, had filed in behalf of Cruz, and to look at

  the transcripts of Hernandez’s trials. By the time I had done this, six weeks later, I knew I had to take the case or stop calling myself a lawyer. Alex Hernandez was innocent.




  In June 1985, a few months after Hernandez and Cruz were first convicted, another little girl, Melissa Ackerman, age seven, was abducted and murdered in LaSalle County, about an hour’s

  drive from Jeanine Nicarico’s house. Both Melissa and Jeanine were kidnapped in broad daylight, carried away in blankets, sodomized, and murdered in a wooded area. A man named Brian Dugan was

  arrested for Melissa’s murder. In the course of complex plea discussions, his lawyer said that Dugan was prepared to plead guilty not only to the Ackerman killing but to a host of other

  crimes, including raping and killing two more females. One of the additional women Dugan was prepared to admit he killed was a twenty-seven-year-old nurse named Donna Schnorr. The other was Jeanine

  Nicarico.




  The prosecutors from DuPage County were contacted and invited to question Dugan, through his attorney. The First Assistant, Robert Kilander, and a younger prosecutor met with Dugan’s

  lawyer, but after returning to their office, they refused to accept Dugan’s statements or to deal with him further. (Nor did anyone from the DuPage office inform the lawyers for Cruz and

  Hernandez that another man was prepared to admit to the murder for which their clients were then awaiting execution.)




  Faced with DuPage’s response, one of the LaSalle County prosecutors contacted the Illinois State Police to be certain that someone looked into the matter. Under the direction of Commander

  Ed Cisowski, the state police investigated Dugan’s admission that he was the lone killer of Jeanine. By the time they were done, Cisowski had concluded that DuPage had

  convicted the wrong men. Dugan was not at work at the time of the murder, and a church secretary recalled speaking to Dugan two blocks from the Nicarico home that day. A tire print found where

  Jeanine’s body was deposited matched the tires that had been on Dugan’s car. He knew a multitude of details related to the crime that were never publicly revealed, including several

  facts about the interior of the Nicarico home and the blindfold he’d applied to Jeanine.




  Despite all of this, the DuPage County prosecutors attempted, for a decade, to debunk Dugan’s confession. Even after Cruz’s and Hernandez’s second convictions were overturned

  in July 1994 and in January 1995 as a result of the separate appeals Larry Marshall and I argued, and notwithstanding a series of DNA results that excluded first Hernandez, then Cruz as Jeanine

  Nicarico’s sexual assailant, while pointing directly at Dugan, DuPage continued to pursue the cases. Only after Cruz was acquitted in his third trial, in late 1995, were both men at last

  freed.
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  A DEATH PENALTY AGNOSTIC




  HERNANDEZ AND CRUZ are but two of seventeen men in Illinois who, since the state reestablished capital punishment in 1977,

  have been sentenced to death and later legally absolved of the murder for which they were convicted. Three men were freed in 1999 alone, the most celebrated of them Anthony Porter, who at one point

  had been only fifty hours away from execution. Porter was released in February 1999, after Paul Ciolino, a private investigator working with Northwestern University journalism professor David

  Protess and his students, tracked down a man in Milwaukee who admitted to the crime for which Porter was to die. Following that, in November of the same year, the Chicago Tribune published a

  relentless series about failings in the Illinois capital system, focusing not only on the exonerations and related evidentiary problems but also on the high rate of reversals in Illinois’

  death cases. Forty-nine percent of death penalty cases had been reversed for a new trial or a new sentencing, with more than a fifth of those reversals arising because of

  misconduct by prosecutors. In some reversed cases, defendants had been resentenced to death. But often that was not the case.




  The Governor of Illinois, George Ryan (no relation to Jim Ryan), was a Republican who had come into office in January 1999 as a lifelong supporter of the death penalty. While a member of the

  Illinois legislature, he had voted in favor of reestablishing capital punishment in 1977. Nonetheless, he was dismayed by what confronted him. As of the end of 1999, the overall scorecard was

  something like this. Since 1977, there had been a few more than 270 persons condemned in Illinois whose cases had progressed through an initial appeal. Twelve had exhausted the seemingly

  everlasting process that is death penalty litigation and been executed. Thirteen had been exonerated. And about 90, who had their death sentences reversed, received some lesser punishment the next

  time around. In other words, more than a third of the time Illinois had imposed a capital sentence on persons who either were not guilty, or, on second thought, did not deserve execution.




  Given his growing awareness of the system’s frequent errors, Governor Ryan found the experience of signing a death warrant for the execution of Andrew Kokoraleis in March 1999 tormenting.

  Unwilling to repeat that, George Ryan declared a moratorium on further executions on January 31, 2000. Hector Reuben Sanchez, the murderer of Michelle Thompson, was one of roughly 170 prisoners

  whose death sentence was placed on indefinite hold.




  In declaring the moratorium, Governor Ryan labeled Illinois’ capital justice system “fraught with error.” Six weeks later, he named a fourteen-member

  “blue-ribbon” Commission to tell him how to reform capital punishment in Illinois. I was one of the persons the Governor appointed to serve.




  I had been in the Netherlands on a book tour, driving past flooded farm fields on the way to The Hague, when I was first phoned by Matt Bettenhausen, Illinois’ Deputy Governor for Criminal

  Justice and Public Safety, who became Executive Director of the Commission. I did not hesitate when he asked if I would like to be considered. It was important work and would offer me the chance to

  systematically contemplate an issue that had long divided me against myself.




  I am sure many Illinois residents were startled to see someone whose name they might know as a storyteller chosen to help deliberate about what is probably the gravest real-life problem in the

  law. Although I spend the majority of my time these days as a writer, I remain a partner in the Chicago office of Sonnenschein. After the publication of my first two novels—Presumed

  Innocent in 1987 and The Burden of Proof in 1990—I began to limit my time practicing law, devoting much of it to pro bono matters. Thus, in the nineties, the bulk of my

  hours as lawyer went into the post-trial phases of two very different capital prosecutions, Hernandez and a case I took on after that for a young man named Christopher Thomas. These

  activities did not make me a death penalty expert by any stretch; many of my colleagues on the Commission had dealt with capital cases far more regularly. But I’d had intense personal

  experiences that certainly gave me a hands-on perspective.




  The Governor introduced the Commission at a teeming press conference on March 9, 2000, at the Thompson Center in Chicago. When one of the reporters asked how many of us

  opposed capital punishment, only four of the members—former U.S. Senator Paul Simon; Rita Fry and Ted Gottfried, both public defenders; and Bill Martin, who, years ago as a prosecutor, had

  sent mass-murderer Richard Speck to death row—raised their hands. I had felt no inclination to raise mine.




  In college and graduate school, from 1966 to 1972, I adhered to the Aquarian faith of the era. I accepted the fundamental goodness of all people and accordingly regarded capital punishment as

  barbaric. By 1978, I’d become an Assistant United States Attorney in Chicago. There was no federal death penalty in those years. (It was reenacted in 1988, but only for murders related to a

  few drug offenses. In 1994, it was expanded to apply to murders in many more circumstances.) That was fine with me when I took the job, and I was somewhat jolted a few months after I’d

  started, when one of my closest friends in the office, Julian Solotorovsky, was assigned to a murder case. Ralph Perez, a patient at the North Chicago Veterans Administration Hospital, had been

  watching TV when another patient changed the channel. Ralph responded by stomping the man to death. Under the U.S. criminal code, a state crime committed on federal lands is prosecuted in federal

  court, but punished according to state law. That meant Ralph was subject to the death penalty.




  Julian had been raised a Quaker, and I remember the two of us staring at each other across his desk when we first discussed this prospect. As it happened, Ralph was found incompetent to stand

  trial, but the fact that seeking capital punishment might conceivably be among my responsibilities was stunning. Could I actually do that?




  By 1984, when Jeremy Margolis tried Hector Reuben Sanchez, I’d decided I could. Over my years as a prosecutor, my view of human nature had acquired a far more

  Hobbesian cast. I’d learned that people who commit crimes are, very often, engaged in an act of self-definition. They do not think much of themselves and they are inclined, as a result, to

  treat others cruelly. They lie for laughs and do violence, either as a business or because they are angry and it gratifies them. In a normative sense, they are bad people—and they are going

  to stay that way, in most instances. My job as a prosecutor—and the sensible first response of society—was to make sure they didn’t do bad things again. And I could see that a

  sentence of death was the most certain means to accomplish that goal in extreme cases.




  Thus, if I’d had to trade places with Jeremy and ask a jury to condemn Hector Sanchez to death, I believed I could do it. I did not force myself to justify capital punishment, just as I

  did not routinely question the wisdom of the RICO statute or the mail fraud or securities laws it was my job to enforce. But I could follow the will of my community on the issue.




  The ten years I spent in the nineties on the defense side of capital cases taught me many cautionary lessons about the death penalty, but when Matt Bettenhausen called me about serving on the

  Commission, I still hung in a sort of ethical equilibrium, afraid to come down on either side of the question of whether capital punishment was actually right or wise. Many of the traditional

  arguments against capital punishment had little traction with me. I respect the religious views of persons who regard life as sacred, but I don’t want government action predicated on

  anybody’s religious beliefs. The simple principle that says “If killing is wrong, then the state shouldn’t do it” has always struck me as just

  that—simple, too simple for the complexities of human conduct. Besides, it would also bar certain state violence I accept as a necessity—war or the use of lethal force when called for

  by police. Nor was I moved by those who denounce the death penalty as revenge, which pretends that getting even isn’t one of the motives for putting criminals in prison. How else to explain

  the stark conditions of American penitentiaries? On the other hand, I had a hard time defining what good came of capital punishment.




  When people asked, I referred to myself as a death penalty agnostic. Every time I thought I was prepared to stake out a position, something would drive me back in the other direction. In 1994,

  while I was representing Hernandez and had seen how wrong capital cases could go, John Wayne Gacy was scheduled for execution. In the late 1970s, Gacy, a contractor and part-time

  children’s-party clown, had raped and murdered approximately thirty-three young men, many of them teenagers, whom he had enticed to his home. According to the accounts of the few survivors,

  Gacy spent hours practicing tortures straight from Sade on his victims, repeatedly bringing them to the point of death until they finally succumbed, after which Gacy buried their corpses in the

  crawl space beneath his house. When the death penalty activists, who took me as an ally because of my work on Alex’s case, asked me to join their protests of Gacy’s execution, I

  refused. I could not call putting John Wayne Gacy to death an injustice.




  By taking a place on the Commission, I knew I would finally have to decide what I would do about capital punishment if I were, in the favorite law school phrase, “czar of the universe.” Paul Simon, the former U.S. Senator who was one of our co-chairs and a longtime foe of the death penalty, served notice at the threshold that before our labors

  were completed, he intended to call the question of whether Illinois should have capital punishment. As a lawyer, I was accustomed to working on matters one case at a time. Now I would have to pass

  judgment on an entire system, cast a vote, and give the people of Illinois my best advice, for whatever it was worth. No more dodging my conscience, no more mouthing liberal pieties while secretly

  hoping some conservative showed up to talk hard-nosed realities. The omen of that day of decision would, for me, loom over the whole enterprise. I was going to have to decide.




  







  3




  [image: ]




  GOVERNOR GEORGE RYAN




  THE MAN who declared Illinois’ moratorium on executions and who appointed me to his Commission on Capital Punishment

  remains one of the more enigmatic figures in recent local history. On looks, George Ryan, snow-capped and agreeably round, might be mistaken for an applicant for a seasonal opening as a department

  store Santa, but his tenure as Illinois’ Governor from January 1999 to January 2003 was not always jolly. Throughout his years in the Executive Mansion, Ryan was engulfed by a scandal focused

  on the office he held before being elected Governor, when he was Illinois’ Secretary of State. By the time Ryan left office, at least fifty persons, many Ryan’s former Secretary of

  State employees, had been convicted in federal court, most of them in connection with selling drivers’ licenses for bribes. Worse, both Ryan’s ex-chief of staff and Ryan’s

  political campaign fund had been indicted (and were later convicted in March 2003) for racketeering in connection with an alleged scheme to defraud taxpayers by using the

  workers and facilities of the Secretary of State’s office for Ryan’s gubernatorial campaign. Rumors of the Governor’s imminent indictment were rife during much of his time in

  office.




  Despite this, Ryan neither circled the wagons nor ducked tough issues that risked further eroding his political support. A moderate-to-conservative Republican, Ryan had nonetheless run to the

  left of his pro-gun, anti-abortion Democratic opponent during the election. Whatever the hopes of conservative Republicans, in office Ryan hewed to the moderate agenda he promised, which was very

  much in line with the middle-of-the-road approach that had kept Republican governors in power in Illinois for decades. He aided business interests, but instead of a tax cut, he used the budget

  surplus he found when he entered office in 1999 to reverse the prevailing trend of starving schools and roads. He visited Cuba in hopes of selling Illinois agricultural products, vetoed a bill to

  cut off Medicaid funding of abortions, and supported anti-gun legislation.




  Professionally, Ryan was a pharmacist who’d run a chain of family-owned drugstores in Kankakee, a small Illinois city just far enough from Chicago to be outside the bright lights. He

  started in politics in the 1960s on the county board, eventually becoming Illinois’ Speaker of the House from 1981 to 1983. He served two four-year terms as Lieutenant Governor, then spent

  eight years as Secretary of State, before finally being elected Governor in 1998, culminating what surely must have been a lifelong dream. He is the image of the plain-spoken, unworldly

  Midwesterner, pragmatic and determinedly unimpressed with himself. At a dinner in the home of a mutual friend, I watched Governor Ryan get up from the table to clear his own

  plate; guests who spent the night at the Executive Mansion reported that before going to bed, the Governor walked around turning off the lights.




  When he spoke privately about some of his tougher decisions as Governor, including the death penalty issue, Ryan often referred to his experience as a pharmacist. I think he saw his role in

  government as not all that different—he was trying to help people overcome what ailed them. The sheer harshness of the death penalty always seemed to me inconsistent with the core of George

  Ryan’s character.




  That said, Illinois politics is a rough-and-tumble world and one with a long tradition of public officials who somehow find their hands—or those of their friends—in the cookie jar.

  The corruption allegations that swirled throughout Ryan’s term were not the first lodged against him. Speculation about the Governor’s motives in championing a cause as unpopular as

  death penalty reform was a favorite parlor game. Was he trying to deflect attention from the grand jury probe? Was he hoping to create another legacy besides scandal?




  I had never met George Ryan when he was elected, although, like many other nominal Democrats, I had supported him as the better choice on the issues when he ran for Governor. Not long after

  Ryan’s election, I spent two days at a state literary event where the Governor-elect’s wife, Lura Lynn, was representing her husband, who as Secretary of State was also Illinois’

  official Librarian. Mrs. Ryan is a charmer—good-humored, straightforward, and bright. She spoke candidly about political life, and one of the things she told me was

  that her husband, who would be sixty-eight at the end of his term, had promised her he would not run for reelection. Mrs. Ryan was far too experienced in politics to take that at face value and

  said as much. But in the years that ensued, as others castigated George Ryan and looked askance at his motives, I remembered what Mrs. Ryan had said. To me, George Ryan always appeared to be

  somebody who knew the rehearsal was over. In the time he had, on the issues that counted, he was simply going to do what was right.
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  AMERICA AND THE DEATH PENALTY




  WHATEVER George Ryan’s character or motives, there can be no dispute that Ryan’s decision to declare the

  moratorium was the first act in a national reassessment of the death penalty that is quite clearly under way. In May 2002, Parris Glendenning, the Governor of Maryland, followed Ryan’s

  example and suspended executions in his state for a year, pending a study of racial disparities in who gets sentenced to death. (The report by Raymond Paternoster of the University of Maryland was

  released on January 7, 2003, and concluded that both race and geography affect death penalty decisions in Maryland, but the new Governor, Robert Ehrlich, has vowed to lift the moratorium, a

  position that probably gained appeal in the wake of the Beltway Sniper killings.) The state of Indiana established a Criminal Law Study Commission in 2001 to look at various issues related to the

  death penalty. In March of 2003, a committee appointed by the Pennsylvania Supreme Court recommended halting all executions in the state until the reasons for apparent racial

  bias in the application of the death penalty in the state are better understood.




  The American judiciary also seems to be exhibiting a new willingness to restrict the death penalty, led by the U.S. Supreme Court. In June 2002, the Court ruled that a defendant who has elected

  a jury trial has a constitutional right to have that jury, rather than a judge, decide if he will be sentenced to death. The ruling brought into question death sentences imposed in nine different

  states. Furthermore, based on that holding, in September a federal judge in Vermont said the federal capital punishment statute is unconstitutional because it lacks adequate safeguards on the

  evidence presented to juries to obtain a death verdict.




  Even more significantly, perhaps, the Supreme Court also ruled in 2002 that execution of the mentally retarded is unconstitutional as cruel and unusual punishment. The decision invites extended

  litigation about how capable a human being must be before execution is constitutionally acceptable. At the start of the Supreme Court’s next term, in October 2002, four justices expressed the

  view that executing murderers who were under eighteen at the time of their crime is also cruel and unusual punishment. Their consensus essentially guarantees that the entire Court will eventually

  decide this question (which may well determine the fate of Lee Malvo, who is facing a capital trial in Virginia for the Beltway Sniper shootings he allegedly committed at age seventeen).




  The Supreme Court’s new latitude toward death penalty issues continued in its next term. In 2003, the Court nudged the door wider for post-conviction review in

  federal court for capital cases and raised the bar for a defense lawyer’s duty to seek out mitigating evidence for a capital sentencing hearing.




  This, of course, is not the first time that America and its courts have thought twice about the wisdom of killing killers. One need only glance at a TV screen to realize that murder remains a

  national preoccupation, and the concomitant questions of how to deal with it have long challenged contending strains in American moral thought, pitting Old Testament against New, retribution

  against forgiveness.




  To some extent, the debate about capital punishment has been going on almost since the founding of the Republic. At that time, each state, following the English tradition, imposed death for a

  long list of felonies. But the same humanism that posited the equal value of all men and animated democracy necessarily led to many questions about a punishment that vested such fierce power over

  citizens in the state and assumed individuals were irredeemable. Jefferson was among the earliest advocates of restricting executions, and in 1794, Pennsylvania limited capital punishment to

  first-degree murder. In 1846, Michigan became the first American state to outlaw capital punishment for killers.




  Public support for capital punishment has waxed and waned in the United States throughout our history. In , opinion polls showed for the first time that a majority of Americans opposed

  capital punishment. Inspired, perhaps, by the seeming evolution in prevailing standards, the U.S. Supreme Court in 1972 held in Furman v. Georgia that in the three cases before the Court,

  the death penalty constituted cruel and unusual punishment, with the justices in the majority noting the utter caprice with which American juries were allowed to decide

  whether a defendant lived or died. But the turmoil of the sixties had led to a new American passion for law and order, and the Furman decision inspired a powerful political backlash. Several

  states passed new death penalty laws, and in 1976 the Court decided that Georgia’s revised and more exacting capital statute, designed to more closely confine a jury’s discretion in

  imposing death, was constitutional after all. Two justices, Byron R. White and Potter Stewart, who had found the death penalty cruel and unusual in Furman, approved the Georgia statute, as

  did Justice John Paul Stevens, who had replaced William O. Douglas in the interval. Illinois, along with many other states, quickly followed suit with a new capital law patterned after

  Georgia’s.




  But in the 1990s, the advent of DNA testing repeatedly showed that innocent people had been convicted of violent crimes. Many of the exonerated were on death row. As of May 2003, the Death

  Penalty Information Center counted 108 persons who have been sentenced to death in the United States and later legally absolved. And there are dozens of additional cases that fall short of outright

  exoneration where emerging questions have led the condemned to be freed. The prospect of error seems to be the leading cause in reduced support for the death penalty. In the most recent polling,

  early in 2003, a plurality of only 49 percent of Americans favored capital punishment, when offered the alternative of life in prison without parole.




  For most Americans, the death penalty debate goes no further than asking whether they “believe” in capital punishment. There is good reason for this, of course, because the threshold

  issues define us so profoundly as individuals and as a society that it is almost impossible to move past them. What are the goals of punishment? What do we think about the

  perfectibility of human beings and the perdurability of evil? What value do we place on life—of the murderer and of the victim? What kind of power do we want in the hands of government, and

  what do we hope the state can accomplish when it wields it?




  One of the reasons that the death penalty debate so preoccupies us is because of the essential nature of these questions. Almost no one feels detached about capital punishment. Advocates,

  opponents, and those in conflict all see in the issue a struggle for the national soul. Many death penalty opponents who root their position in religious or spiritual convictions treat those who

  favor death sentences as barbarians or wanton sinners. Supporters of capital punishment frequently characterize those on the other side as bleeding hearts and hypocrites, who would never feel the

  same way were it their loved ones who had been murdered. These volleys of mutual accusation have often drowned out the nuances in the national debate and, I suspect, masked the degree to which

  large numbers of Americans, like me, have long approached these questions with some residue of doubt. The truth, I suspect, is that as crimes and cases unfold around us, many of us often feel a

  visceral attraction to both positions.
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  THE COMMISSION




  GOVERNOR RYAN’S COMMISSION on Capital Punishment was clearly assembled to represent diverse

  viewpoints and experience. Among the fourteen of us, there were prominent Democrats and Republicans, three women, and four members of minority groups. Twelve were attorneys, including a former

  Chief Judge of the federal district court, two sitting State’s Attorneys, two public defenders, and a number of lawyers who’d walked on both sides. Over the years, eleven of us had been

  prosecutors, while nine of us had experience as defense lawyers. And Paul Simon, a journalist by training, had helped write the laws as a United States Senator.




  The criminal bar, even in a large city, resembles a small town, and I had shared stretches in my lawyering life, often very large and significant ones, with many of my colleagues. One of the

  Commission co-chairs, Tom Sullivan, long a partner at a prominent Chicago firm, had been the United States Attorney who hired me fresh out of Harvard Law School and who, in

  time, became my principal mentor as an attorney. Andrea Zopp, now General Counsel of Sears, had been, by turns, a young lawyer I’d helped train in the U.S. Attorney’s Office, then,

  years later, the First Assistant State’s Attorney for Cook County, which encompasses Chicago, and after that, my law partner. Our chair, Frank McGarr, was a former federal judge, before whom

  I had tried a number of cases. The Executive Director, Matt Bettenhausen, had the same pedigree as a lawyer that I did—Sonnenschein and the U.S. Attorney’s Office, albeit in reverse

  order—and thus we’d been crossing paths for more than a decade. I knew Mike Waller, the State’s Attorney in Lake County, the third most populous county in Illinois, because I

  dealt with him for years in the course of representing Christopher Thomas, a young man whom Mike’s office had sent to death row. My pro bono work had put me in frequent contact with

  Rita Fry, the Public Defender of Cook County, and with Ted Gottfried, the State Appellate Defender for Illinois. And I couldn’t count the number of cases I’d had with Bill Martin,

  literally a lawyers’ lawyer, an ethics expert who, after his time as a prosecutor, often represented attorneys facing professional discipline. I’d also interacted often with Don Hubert

  when he’d been president of the Chicago Bar Association.




  Naturally, I didn’t know everybody the Governor appointed. Kathy Dobrinic was from downstate Montgomery County, now finishing her third term as State’s Attorney there. She was

  president-elect of the state association of county prosecutors. Tom Needham, another former Assistant State’s Attorney in Cook County, was the chief of staff to the

  superintendent of the Chicago Police Department. Perhaps the Governor’s most intriguing appointment was Roberto Ramirez; he and former Senator Simon were the lone Commission members without

  law degrees. A Mexican American immigrant who’d built a successful janitorial business, Roberto knew more than he wanted about violent death. His father had been murdered, and his grandfather

  had shot and killed the man who was responsible.




  With the exception of Roberto, we were all bound up in the same network of long-term relationships that gave us a solid footing to start. But very often these kinds of bodies accomplish little.

  Members are polite to one another, very pleased with themselves for sharing such esteemed company, and much too busy doing the stuff that made them eligible for membership in the first place to

  make much of an effort. Our group was different. The assignment was different. And all of us, Republicans and Democrats, were probably inspired because George Ryan had taken such large risks in

  declaring the moratorium. We all accepted the Governor’s premise that Illinois’ capital punishment system required scrutiny. And we all came with an appreciation for the profound

  complexities of capital punishment as a legal, political, and moral issue. We arrived with our experiences and our opinions, but from the start, there was virtually no posing. Nobody ever pretended

  that he or she couldn’t understand the contrary point of view or, in fact, had not been reached by many of its claims.




  The essential question the Governor posed to the Commission was this: What reforms, if any, would make application of the death penalty in Illinois

  fair, just, and accurate? Everyone on the Commission agreed that the inquiry by its nature required that we first consider reforms before we could ask whether the resulting system met the various

  tests of fairness. Our foremost task was pragmatic: identify problems and propose solutions. The big issues would come at the end.




  One of the initial assignments the Governor had given us was to study in depth the cases of those who had been sentenced to death in Illinois and later exonerated. Looking at these cases

  together—there were thirteen at that time—we had to determine if there were endemic problems that could be isolated and remedied.




  We spent a number of months doing this. Many of our findings flew in the face of what I had taken for granted during my years as a prosecutor, and even as a defense lawyer. For instance, one of

  the fixed stars of the universe of criminal justice is the idea that nobody voluntarily confesses to a crime she or he didn’t commit. For this reason, a confession is regarded as the best

  possible evidence, and cops work hard in their interrogations of suspects to get admissions to the crime. Informed estimates are that confessions are obtained in roughly 40 percent of arrests, and

  that in nearly a quarter of all prosecuted cases the defendant would not be convicted but for his own incriminating statements.




  Thus, the persistence of purported confessions by innocent people in Illinois’ exonerated cases was a wake-up call to me, albeit one where I’d heard the first ring years before. The

  only evidence that Alex Hernandez had any actual role in the murder of Jeanine Nicarico was a declaration he supposedly made to a state informant: “All I did was hold that little girl down, while they hit her in the head.” The alleged statement was shocking—but so were the circumstances under which it was said to have been gathered.




  Alex’s IQ was low—defense experts put it at 73—and psychologists for both sides testified that his behavior years ago reflected what a sense of his deficits could produce in a

  young person: a tendency to seek attention, especially by telling wild tales. Alex had come forward originally in response to public reports of the $10,000 reward, claiming to know something about

  a mysterious Ricky who’d spoken of the murder, but Alex’s so-called information only led the police in circles. Well aware of Alex’s problems, the police continued to assure Alex

  he would be rewarded for helping them, even though they regarded him as a suspect (notwithstanding the fact that he had only a single misdemeanor conviction for theft).




  One day, they put Alex in a room with a childhood friend, Armindo Marquez, who was in custody on a burglary rap. The police had instructed Marquez to say—falsely—that he had

  information about another murder in Bolingbrook, a nearby town, and to suggest that Alex and he tell police details of that case and the Nicarico murder and then share the $10,000 reward. To cement

  the idea, detectives actually put a shoe box filled with cash in the room and had Marquez tell Alex it was the reward money. Marquez never required that what Alex and he tell the cops be true, and

  the record shows instead that they were making it up as they went along. Marquez spun out a bunch of phony details of the Bolingbrook crime, and Alex, who thought he was there to aid police and had

  been told that he could get the reward by extracting the Bolingbrook information, responded with a number of statements about the Nicarico murder. It was in this context that

  Alex supposedly said, “I held her down.” Virtually every other statement he made about the crime that was capable of extrinsic verification proved to be false. To make it worse, after

  he was out of jail, Marquez said that his testimony against Alex was fabricated. Nor did the state ever explain how someone, no matter how weak-minded, would believe he could confess to a horrible

  murder and be free to use reward money. Logic notwithstanding, though, Alex spent the next twelve years in the penitentiary.




  Interrogation techniques that clearly risked eliciting false statements were not limited to Hernandez’s case. Gary Gauger was the first to discover the body of his father in April 1993, in

  the family motorcycle shop in McHenry County, an exurban area west of Chicago. When the police arrived, they found Gauger’s mother slain as well, and took Gauger as the prime suspect in the

  murders. They interrogated him for twelve hours, until he made a statement which the police called a confession, and which Gauger says was a hypothetical discussion they encouraged about how the

  murder occurred. Gauger—whose case is among those depicted in the popular play The Exonerated—was sentenced to death. Years later, two members of the Outlaws motorcycle gang were

  convicted of crimes that included the Gauger parents’ murders.




  Sometimes the methods utilized in gaining statements were not subtle. Ronald Jones, convicted of a rape and murder in Chicago in 1985, maintained that his confession had been beaten out of him.

  The state claimed the marks visible on Jones’s face at the time he was arrested were from a skin condition. Years later, DNA evidence categorically established that Jones’s confession

  was false.




  And there was also the Cruz case, where a grand jury found probable cause to believe there was no confession at all. The police claimed Cruz had told them about a vision

  of the crime, filled with details only the killer could know. Yet somehow the DuPage officers also maintained they had forgotten about the statement until days before the start of Rolando’s

  and Alex’s trial in 1985 and had also neglected to make any written report of it in the first place—remarkable lapses given usually rigid law enforcement practices.




  While false confessions were the dominating problem in the Illinois exonerations, and have appeared in other jurisdictions, as in New York City’s Central Park jogger case, where DNA

  evidence indicated five young men had gone to the penitentiary for a rape committed by someone else, the thirteen Illinois cases also called into question other forms of evidence in which courts

  and lawyers have long placed confidence. When I started trial practice twenty-five years ago, an eyewitness was regarded as the evidentiary gold standard. What better proof could you have than a

  bystander who saw the whole crime take place and could thus confidently name the perpetrator? Subsequent psychological research has demonstrated that the sheer extraordinariness of witnessing a

  crime challenges perception. Anthony Porter was falsely identified as a multiple killer by two people who had often seen him around the neighborhood where they all lived. Stephen Buckley, Cruz and

  Hernandez’s original co-defendant, who bears some resemblance to Brian Dugan, was also identified as having been near the crime scene by an eyewitness. Indeed, mistaken identification has

  been named as the leading cause of wrongful convictions nationwide.




  On the other hand, sometimes the road to death row in these cases had led along byways long recognized as dangerous to the truth. The risk that accomplices and jailhouse

  snitches will lie to win leniency in their own cases is traditionally acknowledged in jury instructions, which tell jurors, for example, that the testimony of such persons “must be considered

  with caution and great care.” Joseph Burrows, Verneal Jimerson, and Dennis Williams were all sent to death row by the bogus inventions of co-defendants.




  Whatever the particulars of these cases, though, the bottom line was the same. Being accused of a grisly murder was a far greater peril to an innocent person than I’d recognized years

  before.
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  CONVICTING THE INNOCENT




  UNDERLYING THE EXONERATIONS in Illinois’ death row cases were a few fundamental questions. How could experienced

  police officers and prosecutors be taken in by false evidence—or even assume a role in manufacturing it? And how could juries fail in their enshrined role of protecting against such abuses

  and actually buy in?




  Thinking about Alex’s case and studying the other exonerations in Illinois, I eventually recognized that there is a unique array of factors in death penalty cases that can lead to wrongful

  convictions. Prosecutors in capital cases have extraordinary leverage over the accused. Defendants who avoid the death penalty do so most often by pleading guilty. Inherent in capital punishment is

  the risk that an innocent person faced with the choice of living or dying might plead. Many others, of course, accept the peril and demand a trial. When they get it, the law

  requires removing from the jury any person who says he or she will refuse to impose a capital sentence. It is difficult to imagine what else the law might do other than banish those who will not

  adhere to its command, but studies have repeatedly asserted that the resulting jury pool is more conviction-prone.




  Yet at the end of the day, the factor that is the greatest snare for the innocent is the nature of the cases themselves. In Illinois, in the last twenty-five years, approximately one in every

  fifty convictions for first-degree murder has resulted in a capital sentence. Even in Wyoming, which has the highest death-sentencing rate in the country, fewer than 6 percent of homicides end up

  with a sentence of execution pronounced. That is consistent with the command of the U.S. Supreme Court, which has ruled that death may not be the automatic punishment for first-degree murder. In

  practice, capital punishment is reserved for “the worst of the worst,” that is, those crimes which most outrage the conscience of the community. Paradoxically, this makes for the

  capital system’s undoing, because it is these extreme and repellent crimes that provoke the highest emotions—anger, especially, even outrage—that in turn make rational

  deliberation problematic for investigators, prosecutors, judges, and juries.




  Under enormous pressure to solve these cases, police often become prisoners of their own initial hunches. A homicide investigation is not an academic inquiry allowing for even-handed

  consideration of every hypothesis. Instead, it’s conducted in an atmosphere where primitive fears about unknown, dangerous strangers imperil our sense of an orderly world. There is a strong

  emotional momentum to adopt any explanation. Cops often feel impelled to take the best lead and run with it.




  A few weeks before Jeanine’s murder, the Nicaricos had hired a Spanish-surnamed cleaning lady who turned out to have a son with a burglary record. He ultimately proved to be blameless in

  this case, but from that start grew the police theory that the crime had been intended to be a burglary, committed by a gang of Hispanics—even though no valuables were ever found missing from

  the Nicarico house. When Alex appeared, telling tales, he fit an existing preconception, a theory to which many officers became wedded the longer it persisted, making it virtually impossible for

  them to accept the fact that a white serial rapist, namely, Brian Dugan, was the actual culprit.




  If law enforcement professionals respond in this fashion to the emotionalism of grave crimes, it is foolhardy to expect anything better from the lay people who sit on juries. By the time of

  Alex’s third trial, in May 1991, the evidence against him was so scant that the DuPage County State’s Attorney’s Office actually sought an outside legal opinion to determine

  whether they had enough proof to get the case over the bare legal threshold required to ask a jury to decide the matter. By then, Dugan had admitted to the crime and DNA had excluded Alex as the

  rapist. John Sam, one of the lead detectives on the case, had quit the force because he believed DuPage had accused the wrong men, a point of view shared by the chief of police in Naperville, James

  Teal. And Marquez, who’d reported the I-held-her-down statement, had now disavowed his testimony.




  Instead, the state tried to offer the Marquez evidence through a police officer who’d been outside the room where Marquez and Hernandez met. The officer testified

  that he had no memory at all of the conversation. All he could do was recite the contents of a report he’d put together three weeks after the event, long after Marquez’s version of the

  encounter was known. The officer couldn’t understand Spanish, in which he acknowledged most of the conversation was conducted. He admitted being twelve feet from the door to the room and even

  at that didn’t know whether it was open or closed. He conceded that he’d destroyed his notes and that what he’d written down at the time wasn’t verbatim. And he had no

  memory of a single word Marquez had spoken to prompt the fragmentary responses from Alex contained in the police report. Later, the trial judge, John Nelligan, remarked, “It is impossible to

  determine the context . . . not to mention the obvious meaning of the language [the officer] recorded.”




  But even though a veteran trial judge couldn’t place any meaning on what he referred to as “the one statement that tied this Defendant indirectly to involvement in the death of

  Jeanine Nicarico,” the jury convicted. The case demonstrated to me the propensity of juries to turn the burden of proof against defendants accused of monstrous crimes. The notion of a

  ten-year-old girl being overpowered by an intruder and dragged from the safety of her parents’ home, sexually tortured, and then in the end beaten to death is so revolting that I used to

  explain Alex’s and Rolando’s convictions by saying that I thought Mother Teresa might have been in jeopardy if she were in the defendant’s seat. Jurors are unwilling to take the

  chance of releasing a monster into our midst, and thus will not always require proof beyond a reasonable doubt.




  An enduring problem is that the standards for review of juries’ fact-finding decisions in these highly emotional cases is the same as when a defendant is accused of

  stealing candy from a five-and-dime. Appellate courts are asked to assess whether any rational jury could have reached this conclusion, with the italics in place when the legal standard is

  stated. In so doing, courts must take all evidence “in the light most favorable to the verdict,” meaning that they must draw all inferences from the evidence and resolve all credibility

  questions in a way that supports the jury’s decision. An appellate judge’s own nagging doubts about an unsavory state witness or the unlikeliness of the prosecutor’s theory about

  motive may not lead to setting the verdict aside. In Alex’s case, this meant that even though Judge Nelligan personally regarded the meaning of Alex’s exchanges with Marquez as

  “impossible to determine,” he was not empowered to overturn the jury’s verdict; the best he could do was refuse to impose a death sentence and give Alex eighty years. When my

  colleagues, Matt Tanner and Leslie Suson, and I appeared before the Illinois Appellate Court and I argued Alex’s appeal, I found the judges similarly skeptical of the same evidence, and I

  believe their observations from the bench ultimately led the prosecutors to decide not to re-prosecute. But even though the court reversed the judgment, given the deference to a jury’s

  findings, the justices, like Judge Nelligan, could not say that the verdict was completely irrational, which is what the law requires for an outright acquittal on appeal.




  Aside from reviewing a verdict once to ensure it’s within the broad borders of rationality, the courts by rule are precluded from ever dealing much with the facts of a case again. Although

  many Americans complain about the parade of years that goes into death penalty litigation, the proceedings after trial never again directly involve the question of whether

  the defendant is actually guilty. Instead, they usually center on repeated assaults on the competence of the trial lawyers, because that, generally speaking, is the only avenue for attack that is

  open. But the appellate courts refuse to allow a defendant to, in the parlance, “retry his case.” Guilt is taken as a fact determined, even when a defendant has marshaled substantial

  new evidence that the jury never heard.
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